Reducing food waste in Sunyani, Ghana: Experiences of managers and supervisors in the food services industry

Dorcas Wettey¹; Afia Sakyiwaa Amponsah^{2*}; Yvonne Claire Dumenu³

Abstract

Food waste is a significant global issue affecting food systems, especially food availability and management. This study examines the challenges undermining food waste management in the food service sector, probing its causes and potential strategies for reduction from a managerial perspective. The study uses a cross-sectional survey design and a mixed methods approach to collect and analyze qualitative and quantitative data. The study found that food waste in the food service industry is a significant issue, with 75% of food vendors not engaging in food waste sorting and food waste reduction. It argues that effective inventory management, proper storage practices, and regular fresh produce procurement as crucial strategies for reducing food waste and promoting healthier food choices. Staff training, incentives, and consumer engagement are also essential for food waste reduction, contributing to global food security and sustainable practices.

Keywords

Food Waste; Service Industry; Inventory Management; Sustainable Practices; Managerial Strategies

¹Department of Geography and Sustainability Science, University of Energy and Natural Resources, Sunyani, Ghana

²Department of Hospitality and Tourism, Sunyani Technical University, Sunyani, Ghana.

³Earth Observation Research and Innovation Centre, University of Energy and Natural Resources, Sunyani, Ghana

*Corresponding author: afia.amponsah@stu.edu.gh

DOI: 10.26796/jenrm.v10i1.252

Received: January 5, 2024; Received in revised form: March 8, 2024; Accepted: April 18, 2024; Published: April 30, 2024

Contents

1	Introduction	16
2	Study area and methodology	17
2.1	Study Setting	17
2.2	Research design and methods	17
2.3	Sampling size and sampling procedure	18
2.4	Data collection	18
3	Results and discussion	18
3.1	Socio-demographical data of respondents	18
3.2	Causes of food waste in the food service industry \ldots .	20
3.3	Current strategies used for reducing food waste	21
3.4	Strategies for food waste reduction	21
4	Conclusion	22
References		

1. Introduction

Food waste is a major challenge across diverse food system [1]. The Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (FAO) noted that about one-third of the food produced globally is wasted [1], amounting to 1.3 billion tons annually. In Africa, 66 percent of fruits and vegetables, 40 percent of root crops, and 21 percent of grains are wasted yearly [2]. Approximately 37 percent of food is wasted annually in sub-Saharan Africa[3]. Furthermore, 3.2 million tons of food are either lost or wasted along the supply chain in Ghana [4]. Therefore, food waste has attracted much attention and is becoming a priority in most developed and developing countries. Food waste is generated from the processing, distribution, retail and food sales, and consumption [5]. Food waste has a high carbon, water, and ecological footprint [6]. Due to the increasing quantity of food waste, emissions estimated for 2020 rose to about 240 million tons of carbon dioxide equivalent gas in 2010 [7]. Methane gas is produced when food waste decomposes under anaerobic conditions at food waste landfills, with methane presenting a global warming potential 25 times higher than carbon dioxide [4]. This significant food waste generates large amounts of greenhouse gas emissions, causing climate change.

Moreover, the transformation of food waste is central to achieving the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [3]. In particular, the Sustainable Development Goal 12 embodies food waste as a significant global issue and sets a specific target SDG 2,6,8 and 13 [8], which is to have per capita global food waste at the retail and consumer level and reduce food waste along the production and supply chain. Thus, enhancing food waste reduction is critical to achieving many other SDGs, which include SDG 2 - Zero hunger; SDG 6 - Clean water and sanitation; SDG 8 - Decent work and economic growth; SDG 11 - Sustainable cities and communities; SDG 12 - Responsible consumption and production; and SDG 13 -Climate action [8]. Unfortunately, food waste is one of the biggest problems facing many countries [9]. Food waste occurs when the food service sector fails to plan, leading to over-purchasing, which results in food passing their "best before" dates [6].

In Ghana, food waste in the food service sector is either thrown away or used to feed animals rather than used for composting, biogas, or energy, which is a more sustainable practice [3]. Food waste adversely impacts food security, the environment, and the economy, making it a national challenge that requires scholarly and policy attention [2]. Studies undertaken on the causes, impacts, and potential solutions to reduce food waste in the food service sector are scanty. For instance, studies on food waste have largely focused on developing countries that have the capacity and resources to combat food waste. Despite the seemingly wide recognition of food waste and the need to drastically reduce it, in African cities, the opposite is happening. For instance, most urban areas in Africa dominantly feature weak and dysfunctional waste management systems that worsen the capacity of food vendors to sustainably manage their food waste. Some studies [2, 7, 10, 11] have explored food waste using a single establishment such as university canteens as case studies with limited empirical studies focusing on food waste reduction in major Ghanaian secondary and transition cities such as Sunyani, notwithstanding their increasing relevance in the global food waste management dynamics. For example, [2] examined the drivers and barriers to food waste reduction. It is therefore yet to be convincingly established in the Ghanaian context how the food service industry is reducing food waste. This study, therefore, assesses strategies for reducing food waste in the food service sector in the Sunyani municipality of Ghana. Specifically, it explored the state of food waste in the food service industry and analyzed the strategies for reducing food waste in the food service industry.

2. Study area and methodology

2.1 Study Setting

Sunyani Municipality is one of the 12 districts in the Bono Region of Ghana- serving as its capital. Located between 70°20' and 70°05' north latitude and 20°30' west longitude and 2010' west longitude, it borders Sunyani West City to the north, Dormaa East District to the west, Asutifi North District to the south, and Tano North Municipality facing east[12]. There is effective economic and social interaction with neighboring districts, facilitating the flow of resources between these districts. According to the 2021 Population and Housing Census, Sunyani City has a total population of 193,595, 16% of the region's total population. The population comprises 49.8% male (96,358) and 50% female (97,237). 156,343 of the population live in urban areas and 37,252 in rural areas. The surrounding natural landscape serves as the foundation for Sunyani's tourism industry [12]. The Municipality's total land area is 829.3 square

kilometers (320.1 square miles). One-third of the total land area is uninhabited or cultivated, providing arable land for future investment (Medium-term plan, 2022-2025).



Figure 1. location of Sunyani Municipality on the Ghana map.

Source: Authors' construct, 2023.

The economy of Sunyani is predominantly based on agriculture, with approximately 48% of the population involved in farming. The service sector employs around 24% of the population, followed by commerce at 15%and industry at 13%. The municipal assembly manages waste through 52 sanitary sites, using communal centralized containers (CCC) for solid waste collection and disposal[12]. Daily, trucks collect waste from these sites for final disposal at a specific site managed by Waste Landfills, a subsidiary of Zoomlion Ghana Company Limited. For liquid waste, the assembly and Zoomlion Ghana Company Limited use vacuum-equipped trucks to empty cesspit tanks, with some contents discharged into the Assembly's Oxidation Pond [13]. The city is growing rapidly to engulf surrounding suburban communities. However, due to its rapidly growing population and emergence as a mining and educational hub and other anthropogenic activities in the rapidly growing city, there is significant growth of the food service industry especially restaurants, hotels and hospital and educational canteens, and food vendors [14]. These developments make the food service industry in Sunyani, a mid-sized, growth, and transition city a suitable case for this study as the findings may be fairly generalizable to rapidly growing cities with similar characteristics in the country and elsewhere, hence the purposive selection of the Municipality for the study.

2.2 Research design and methods

This study adopts a cross-sectional survey design using a mixed methods approach to collect both qualitative and quantitative data for the study. The case study approach was used to adapt and integrate several data-collecting methods, such as in-depth interviews, questionnaire administration, personal observation, and extensive content analysis [15]. The study's population comprised all man-

agers and supervisors of the food service industry due to the managerial and supervisory role including making decisions on food waste and its management. As a result, hotels, universities and schools, hospitals, and restaurants in Sunyani served as the study's target population. There were 110 restaurants and food joints, with a population of 110 managers/supervisors (Sunyani Municipal Assembly, 2020). The city has three 3-star, over fifteen contemporary, and rated hostels and three public hospitals with functional restaurants.

2.3 Sampling size and sampling procedure

The study used simple random sampling to select respondents. The simple random sampling approach provides representativeness for sound conclusions(Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The simple random sampling approach was used to sample 40 from a sample frame of 110 managers and supervisors for the study. For a sample to be representative of a study, it must be a good proportion of the population [15]. Sloven formula was used to determine the sample size of the study. This is given by n=N/[1+N(a)2], where n=sample size, N=population size/sample frame, a= error margin; thus, the confidence level was, and 1 is constant. The sample size was calculated with the desired degree of accuracy using the Slovin's formula (Slovin, 1960):

$$n = N/(1 + N(\alpha)\tilde{s})n = 110/(1 + 110(0.10)\tilde{s})n = 52$$

Where n = sample size to be calculated; N = totalmanagers and supervisors (sampling frame), and $\alpha =$ Type 1 error (0.10). Following the lottery approach, each manager's restaurant, canteen or food joint was assigned a number. The numbers were randomly drawn to select the required samples [16].

2.4 Data collection

of the food service industry in the Sunyani municipality to gather data based on the research question and study's objectives. The Likert scale was used to estimate the extent of agreement on the state of food waste and the strategies for reducing food waste in the food service industry using a scale of 1-5, interpreted as SA- Strongly Agree (5), A-Agree (4), D- Disagree (3), UD- Undecided (2), and NA-Not agree (1). The instruments were self-administered to ensure a high response rate. The strategies for reducing food waste in the food service industry are discussed using narrative analysis. Tables and graphs were used to depict percentages and frequencies. Data was analyzed using SPSS and Microsoft Excel. Thematic analysis was used to categorize and analyze the qualitative data that was gathered.

3. Results and discussion

Table 1. Socio-demographic characteristics of respondents

Characteristics	Frequency (N)	Percentage (%)
Age		
20-29	5	9.6
30-39	22	42.3
40-49	17	32.7
50-59	7	13.5
60+	1	1.9
Educational Level		
SHS	16	30.8
Diploma	15	28.8
First Degree	20	38.5
Master's Degree	1	1.9
Rank		
Manager	38	73.1
Supervisor	14	26.9
Length of Service		
Below 2 years	4	7.7
2-3years	14	26.9
4-5years	16	30.8
6 Years and Above	18	34.6

Source: Author construct, 2023.

3.1 Socio-demographical data of respondents

The socio-demographical data of the study participants/ respondents, that is, managers and supervisors from each of the selected food service entity were collected and examined. Understanding the demographic characteristics of respondents within this industry is crucial for effective management and decision-making. This analysis examined the demographic data of the food service industry, including age, educational levels, rank, and length of service.

The food service industry presents intriguing demographic patterns among its workforce. The age group of Questionnaire were administered to the managers/supervisor30-39 forms the largest segment, closely followed by the 40-49 age bracket. Interestingly, a substantial proportion of the workforce is also constituted by younger individuals aged 20-29 (Table 1). This trend corroborates the findings of Thyberg et al. [17] who posited that the food service industry is attractive to younger individuals due to the flexible work hours and potential for career advancement it offers. In the context of educational qualifications, it is observed that majority (38.5%) of the employees possess a first degree, while 23.1% hold a diploma (Table 1). This shows that the industry offers opportunities for individuals with diverse educational qualifications and by extension the need for continuous skill development. Riggs et al. [18] emphasized the significance of continuous learning and skill-building in the food service industry as a means to enhance job performance.

> The hierarchical structure of the food service providers within the industry is consistent with the operational requirements for ensuring effective management and ef-

Food waste classification	Frequency (N)	Percentage (%)
Waste Sorting		
Yes	13	25
No	39	75
Disposal Frequencies		
Daily	26	50
Weekly	22	42.5
Monthly	4	7.5
Types of Food Wasted		
Vegetable and Meat Scraps	20	38.5
Uneaten and Leftovers	7	13.5
Both	25	48.1
Expiration Dates Examination		
Often	40	76.9
Not Often	12	23.1
Length of Service		
Below 2years	4	7.7
2-3years	14	26.9
4-5years	16	30.8
6 Years and Above	18	34.6

Table 2. Food waste classifications in the food service industry

Source: Author construct, 2023.

fective operations. This is further stressed by Filimonau et al. [19] that managers and supervisors play pivotal role in fostering employee engagement and boosting organizational performance in the food service industry. Furthermore, a considerable number of employees have been associated with their institutions for six years or more which suggests job stability. However, staff retention is a major challenge in most industries in Ghana which is influenced by economic conditions, labor market dynamics, and cultural norms [3].

Understanding the causes and classification of food waste in the food service industry, the study also explored waste sorting, waste disposal frequencies, methods used for disposing of wasted food, categorization of food waste, expiration dates examination, and whether the industries throw away food still edible but has passed the expiration date.

From Table 2, 25% of the respondents sort their waste, while 50% of respondents dispose of their waste daily. All respondents (100%) examine expiration dates before products are used. From observation, both waste sorting practices and disposal frequencies were influenced by the subscription to waste collection service providers such as Zoomlion Ghana Company Limited, Hand in Hand Waste Management, and BA and Allied Waste Management Company. The food service industry is a significant player in waste management, with waste sorting being a key strategy for reducing food waste and promoting sustainability. As per the report by GreenEats (2022) [20], restaurants that actively engage in waste sorting not only demonstrate their commitment to sustainability but also attract environmentally conscious customers. Organic waste sorting, including vegetable scraps and leftovers, helps reduce methane emissions, thereby contributing to the fight against climate change and aligning with Sustainable Development Goal 13. Moreover, [21] highlighted that businesses implementing food waste sorting and composting could see a 30% reduction in overall waste disposal costs. However, despite these benefits, it is concerning that 75% of the food service industry is not engaging in waste sorting [18, 20]. This is due to a lack of education on the benefits and methods of waste segregation, insufficient resources, the potential hazards associated with specific types of waste and waste segregation is labor intensive [23]. Also, waste collection companies do not have facilities to support waste segregation [23].

Effective management of food waste in the food service industry is a multifaceted process that involves several key practices, each contributing to the overall health, safety, and sustainability goals of the business. Regular checks of expiration dates are crucial in preventing foodborne illnesses. This practice ensures that the food served is safe for consumption, thereby maintaining the reputation of the business [24]. Serving expired food can lead to serious health issues for consumers and can significantly damage a business's reputation. Good manufacturing practices such as regular waste removal cannot be overstated. Regular waste removal helps to keep the premises clean, reduces the risk of pest infestations, and contributes to a healthier work environment [25]. Again, improving kitchen practices, particularly those related to the preparation of vegetables and meats, is another critical aspect of food waste management. There is the need for such improvements, as they can significantly reduce the amount of vegetable and meat scraps produced [2]. This can involve training kitchen staff on efficient food preparation techniques, portion control, and proper storage methods to extend the shelf life of ingredients.

From Table 3, the demand for cereals and grains in the food service sector is high, with 85% of businesses frequently purchasing them. These essential grains, rice, and cereal, are inexpensive, adaptable, and frequently used in various dishes. A reliable supply chain is crucial for maintaining this demand. The World Health Organization emphasizes the importance of offering a diverse range of cereals and grains in food establishments to cater to diverse dietary preferences and customer needs. 28.8% of the service industry claim to prevent cereal and grain spoilage by accurately forecasting customer demand and adjusting inventory, demonstrating highly effective practices in preventing spoilage. This confirms a study that emphasizes the importance of accurate inventory management in reducing food waste [4]. Majority 75% of respondents discard stale cereals and grains, indicating overestimating customer demand or poor inventory management, leading to resource waste, product quality loss, and customer dissatisfaction. The findings align with previous research highlighting the importance of

Table 3. Food storage and food waste dynamics in thefood service industry

Common food items	Frequency	Percentage	
Purchase cereals and grains			
Often	45	86.5	
Not often	7	13.5	
Ever thrown away cereals and grains because you have overestimated			
Yes	15	28.8	
No	37	71.2	
Cereals and grains storage			
Storage box	1	1.9	
Refrigerator	39	75	
Both	12	23.1	
How often do you purchase dairy			
Often	34	65.4	
Not often	18	34.6	
Ever thrown away dairy because you have over-purchased		0.00	
Yes	7	13.5	
No	45	86.5	
Dairy storage			
Refrigerator	35	67.3	
Separate container	0	0	
Both	17	32.7	
Vegetable and Fruits purchase			
Often	49	94.2	
Not often	3	5.8	
Ever thrown away vegetables and fruits because you have over-purchased or over-prepared			
Yes	18	34.6	
No	34	65.4	
Vegetable and fruit storage			
Refrigerator	52	100	
Produce drawer	0	0	
How often do you purchase proteins	0	0	
Often	47	90.4	
Not often	5	9.6	
Ever thrown away proteins because you have over-purchased or over-estimated			
Ves	1	1.9	
No	51	98.1	
How do you store proteins?			
Refrigerator	4	77	
Freezer	35	67.3	
Both	13	25	
Courses Author construct 202	<u>n</u>		

Source: Author construct, 2023

effective inventory management in reducing food waste in the hospitality industry [26].

The report indicates that most food service establishments prioritize regular stocking dairy products like milk, cheese, and yogurt to meet customer demand and maintain product quality, as these essential ingredients are frequently used in various recipes. Many researchers have emphasized on the role of dairy products in providing essential nutrients and enhancing the taste and texture of dishes [1, 23, 25, 26]. Most establishments in the food service industry effectively manage their dairy inventory, accurately estimate their needs, and purchase dairy products frequently to ensure a more excellent supply of essential ingredients and meet customer expectations. A more significant percentage of establishments reporting that they do not throw away dairy products due to overestimation aligns with previous research on inventory management strategies in the food service industry. A study by Fenko et al. (2016) [29] emphasizes the importance of accurate forecasting and ordering practices in reducing food waste. Establishments can reduce waste by implementing proper inventory management techniques, such as regular audits and demand-based orders. Only 13.5% reported throwing away dairy products due to overestimation, suggesting successful strategies such as monitoring sales data and collaborating with suppliers.

Most establishments prioritize proper storage for dairy products, extending shelf life and reducing waste, with a high percentage using refrigerators. Van Bemmel (2020) [30] emphasizes the significance of maintaining appropriate temperatures for perishable items like dairy products

to prevent spoilage and extend their freshness. Some of the of establishments (32.7%) use both refrigerators and separate containers to minimize waste, possibly implementing portion control or proper labeling. However, further research is needed to understand the specific practices and policies implemented by these establishments and their effectiveness in minimizing waste. Existing studies on the significance of incorporating fresh produce into the food service industry, for example, Addai [3]emphasizes the significance of reducing food waste and increasing the consumption of fruits and vegetables to improve overall sustainability. Regularly purchasing these items ensures a steady supply of nutritious ingredients, supports local farmers, and promotes healthier food choices for consumers. Due to limited storage space, seasonal availability, or menu preferences, only 5.8% of establishments frequently buy fruits and vegetables. However, 98.1% of establishments successfully manage their inventory and cut down on food waste which is consistent with earlier studies on reducing food waste in the food service sector. For instance, Caucci [7] emphasizes the significant environmental and economic implications of food waste within food supply chains. Minimizing waste through proper inventory management and menu planning can contribute to a more sustainable and efficient operation.

3.2 Causes of food waste in the food service industry

Majority (60%) of the respondents donate or compost their waste underscoring high awareness and practices of food donation and composting in the food service industry which contributes greatly to environmental hygiene and social wellbeing. Zandonadi [31] emphasized the importance of considering food donation and composting as part of a comprehensive waste management strategy in the food service industry. To control food waste in food service industries, several policies can be implemented. These include the implementation of mandatory food waste audits and the development of industry-wide standards, educating industry players to help change consumer behaviour to prevent food waste. Again farmers can be encouraged to use sustainable farming practices, such as reducing fertilizers, to prevent overproduction and waste. Reducing food waste can also have broader implications for global food security. As the world's population grows, minimizing food waste becomes crucial to ensure that resources are used efficiently and effectively. By preventing food waste, more food can be made available for those in need, reducing hunger and promoting equitable access to nutritious food [31]. The identified causes of food waste in the food service industry align with existing literature on the topic. Studies have consistently highlighted the role of improper handling, inaccurate forecasting, and inventory management in contributing to food waste [3, 10, 28]. The findings also confirm the impact of consumer preferences for quality and the influence of price fluctuations on purchasing decisions, which can lead to food

waste [25].

3.3 Current strategies used for reducing food waste.

Several strategies were identified by respondents in the food service industry in the Municipality of Sunyani (Ghana). For this section, these strategies are grouped and will be analyzed and discussed in four stages. This group of strategies encompasses all food waste reduction strategies aimed at actions that concern the whole business and are led, performed, and enforced by the manager. These strategies include giving incentives and awarding staff. Addai [3] found that providing incentives to staff, such as recognition or rewards for waste reduction efforts, positively influenced their engagement in waste reduction practices. Again, Luo et al. [27], examined employee participation in food waste reduction initiatives and highlighted that actively engaging staff through training, communication, and empowerment resulted in significant waste reduction and improved sustainability performance. The second is engaging staff and consumers to actively involve themselves in food waste reduction efforts through awareness campaigns, education, and behavioral nudges, which helped reduce waste and promote sustainable consumption practices [23].

At the managerial stage, the managers and supervisors also review the menu to eliminate unpopular dishes. Raynolds et al. [6] investigated strategies to address food waste at the menu design stage and found that menu engineering, which involves reviewing and optimizing menus based on customer preferences and demand, plays a crucial role in waste reduction by eliminating unpopular and low-demand dishes. There is a need to regularly review menus to identify and eliminate underutilized ingredients or dishes can help minimize waste and improve profitability [19]. In terms of planning and purchasing, the storage stage includes strategies used by businesses to reduce food waste in the food service industry related to planning, purchasing, and storing food [5]. Also, the menu should utilize the available resources of the business, use approaching expiration date products first, use leftovers and ensure that meals are wholesome till they are consumed [32]. Another aspect of planning as a strategy for reducing food waste in the managerial stage of the food service industry, identified by respondent, is about making accurate forecasting using their documented data on daily sales, plates served daily, reservations, and deliveries made daily.

Staff training in the food service business is critical for reducing food waste[24] as good training can significantly reduce food waste by enhancing staff awareness of food handling, storage, and quantity control. Training programs assist in the implementation of sustainable practices and the overall reduction of food waste in the industry by providing personnel with essential information and skills. At the preparation stage, most managers train their employees on how to improve and practice good kitchen ethics, reuse leftovers, and improve and sustain the recipe and taste of food[24]. To obtain information on the strategies used at this stage. A question was asked: "how do you train your employees to reduce food waste during food preparation?"

I train my employees on how t properly handle food items and maintain hygienic conditions in the kitchen. Also, they shouldn't overcook food to change the taste and also keep and use accurate measurements of food items when preparing food. (Manager, KFC)

Most establishments in the Sunvani Municipality use portion control to reduce food waste at the serving stage in the food service industry. By accurately measuring and controlling the amount of food served to customers, establishments minimize over-portioning and subsequent plate waste. Luo et al. (2021) [33], discovered that portion control interventions can effectively reduce food waste in restaurants. Another strategy is offering customizable options or "build-your-own" meals. This allows customers to select portion sizes according to their preferences, reducing the likelihood of unwanted or excess food [34,35]. Promoting awareness is one technique for encouraging consumer behavior that lowers food waste in the food service business [3]. Establishments can enhance consumer awareness and push them to make more conscientious decisions by giving information about food waste's environmental and social implications. Improving consumer awareness on the effects of food waste can reduce household food waste. The implications of this strategy include fostering a sense of responsibility among consumers and empowering them to take action to minimize food waste[4].

3.4 Strategies for food waste reduction

The current strategies implemented to reduce food waste, the targets set by managers to reduce waste, and the feedback to monitor progress. The data indicates that 22.5%of food service establishments have not implemented any technology to manage food waste, indicating room for improvement in utilizing technology to identify waste areas, track progress, and make informed decisions. A study by Raynolds et al. (2019) [6] emphasizes the importance of measuring and monitoring food waste as a crucial step in addressing the issue. The study reveals a need for more accurate data on food waste generation, indicating a gap in waste management. The majority of establishments (77.5%) still need to implement technology or software solutions, highlighting the need for increased awareness and adoption to improve efficiency and waste reduction. Real-time data on inventory management, portion control, and customer preferences can help establishments make data-driven decisions to minimize waste, contributing to sustainability efforts. The food service industry faces significant challenges in reducing food waste, with 52.5%of respondents reporting specific challenges, indicating a need for additional support and resources to manage

and reduce waste effectively. The studies by Ababio et al. (2015) [24] supports the significance of identifying and addressing challenges in reducing food waste. The study highlights that food waste behaviors are complex and influenced by various factors, including lack of awareness, inefficient processes, and inadequate infrastructure. By recognizing and addressing these challenges, establishments can develop tailored solutions to minimize food waste and improve overall efficiency.

Farmers are increasingly using excessive fertilizers in farming. This shortens the lifespan of farm produce before they get to us. Also, there needs to be more cans for us to sort our waste, and there are limited resources, both financial and technological resources, to help reduce waste: the Manager, Sunvani Technical University Restaurant. Despite challenges in the food service industry, it indicates the need for collaboration and knowledge-sharing among stakeholders. A study by Zandonadi et al. (2021) [31] emphasizes the importance of engaging all actors within the food supply chain to reduce food waste effectively. By sharing best practices, lessons learned, and innovative solutions, establishments can collectively work towards overcoming challenges and implementing effective strategies to reduce food waste. In terms of the targets to measure and reduce food waste, according to the data, 60% of respondents in the food service industry reported having set specific targets to measure and reduce food waste in their operations, while 40% did not have such targets in place. This finding suggests that most establishments in the industry recognize the importance of addressing food waste and have taken proactive measures to measure and reduce it. Implementing specific targets can drive efforts toward reducing food waste and promoting sustainability within the industry. The findings by Fenko et al. (2016) [29]) supports the significance of setting targets to measure and reduce food waste. The study emphasizes that with clear goals and targets, it becomes easier for organizations to manage and reduce their food waste effectively. By establishing specific targets, establishments can track their progress, identify areas for improvement, and implement strategies to minimize food waste throughout their operations.

To obtain information on the strategies, the participants were asked of their tools for reducing food waste through meal planning, proper handling and storage, and inventory management systems.

"As a way to monitor the target, I have seen a reduction in the volume of waste generated daily. My target is to reuce food waste at the preparation, serving, and consumption stage to boost income. To monitor and measure progress, portion size is controlled, and proper handling and storage are observed. (The Manager, City Aroma Restaurant)"

The presence of specific tools in the food service industry implies that there is a commitment to sustainability and responsible resource management. The findings of Sakaguchi et al. (2020) [32], highlights that setting targets to reduce food waste can lead to significant environmental benefits, including reduced greenhouse gas emissions and conservation of natural resources. The data suggesting that a majority of establishments have set targets to measure and reduce food waste implies a positive trend towards more sustainable practices within the industry. Based on the analysis, the food waste reduction strategies implemented by managers in the food service industry have yielded positive results. Strategies such as portion size control, accurate measurements, menu engineering, staff training, proper handling and storage, and inventory management have played a significant role in reducing the daily volume of waste. These strategies align with the set goals and demonstrate their effectiveness in minimizing food waste. However, to ascertain the effectiveness of the strategies, the study by Chen et al. (2018) [21] revealed that controlling portion sizes and accurately measuring ingredients in restaurants led to a significant reduction in food waste.

4. Conclusion

This study explored the strategies for reducing food waste in the food service sector in the Sunyani municipality of Ghana focusing on the experiences of managers and supervisors. From the analysis, majority of the restaurants, canteens and food joints rely on proper storage methods, such as refrigerators and storage boxes to minimize waste and ensure the freshness of their ingredients. The findings further show that the causes of food waste in the food service industry are indeed related to improper handling and storage, inaccurate forecasting, lack of inventory management, excessive use of fertilizer, over-purchasing, and unstandardized recipes. Also, donating excess food or composting was found to be a positive leaning towards sustainable food waste management practices in the food service industry. Thus, encouraging this practice can potentially lead to significant reductions in food waste and create a positive impact on both social and environmental fronts. Based on these findings, implementing better food handling practices, improving food forecasting and inventory management, and standardizing recipes are effective strategies to minimize food waste in the food service industry. Furthermore, implementation of technology or software solutions for measuring and managing food waste in the food service industry indicate a potential area for improvement. The low percentage of establishments utilizing these tools suggests a need for increased awareness and adoption. Encouraging more establishments to embrace technology can lead to more effective waste reduction strategies and contribute to overall sustainability in the industry. Based on the limitations of the study, in terms of its focus on managers and supervisors as well as the limited focus on Sunyani, a mid-sized city, there is

the need for further studies using major city with wider participation of various staff categories.

References

- [1] FAO 2011, The methodology of the FAO study: "Global Food Losses and Food Waste-extent, causes and prevention," 2013. https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:944159/FULLTEXT01.pdf.
- [2] A.E.A. ELNASR, N. ALIANE, M.F. AG-INA, Tackling food waste in all-inclusive resort hotels in egypt, Processes. 9 (2021) 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr9112056.
- [3] M. ADDAI, Assessing the causes and effects of food loss and food waste: A comparative Analysis of Ghana and Sweden, (2021) 1–55.
- [4] C.-J. WULEKA KUUDER, E. BAGSON, V.M. PREM-PEH, A. MUMUNI, R. ADONGO, E.E. AMOAKO, ENERGY, Water and Waste Management in the Accommodation Sector of Tamale Metropolis, Ghana, Am. J. Tour. M Anagement. 2013 (2013) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.5923/s.tourism.201304.01.
- [5] R. SOMLAI, Insights into business strategies for reducing food waste in the Australian food industry, Bus. Strateg. Environ. 32 (2023) 3151–3164. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.3292.
- [6] C. REYNOLDS, L. GOUCHER, T. QUESTED, S. BROMLEY, S. GILLICK, V.K. WELLS, D. EVANS, L. KOH, A. CARLSSON KANYAMA, C. KATZEFF, Å. SVENFELT, P. JACKSON, Review: Consumption-stage food waste reduction interventions – What works and how to design better interventions, Food Policy. 83 (2019) 7–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2019.01.009.
- S. CAUCCI, Organic Waste Composing through Nexus Thinking, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36283-6.
- [8] U.S. MISHRA, B. PADHI, Sustaining the sustainable development goals, Econ. Polit. Wkly. 56 (2021) 30–31.
- [9] A. KABYL, M. YANG, R. ABBASSI, S. LI, A risk-based approach to produced water management in offshore oil and gas operations, Process Saf. Environ. Prot. 139 (2020) 341–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2020.04.021.
- [10] R. MACRAE, A. SIU, M. KOHN, M. MATSUBUCHI-SHAW, D. MCCALLUM, T. HERNANDEZ CERVANTES, D. PERREAULT, Making better use of what we have: Strategies to minimize food waste and resource inefficiency in Canada, Can. Food Stud. / La Rev. Can. Des Études Sur l'alimentation. 3 (2016) 145–215. https://doi.org/10.15353/cfs-rcea.v3i2.143.

- [11] E. MENSAH, G. Y. OBENG, Assessment and projection of waste vegetable oils from hotels for biodiesel feedstock and CO2 savings in Ghana, Int. J. Eng. Res. Sci. Technol. 2 (2013) 1–12.
- [12] S.M. ASSEMBLY, Sunyani Municipal Assembly, (2024).
- [13] I. MENSAH, Waste management practices of small hotels in Accra: An application of the waste management hierarchy model, J. Glob. Bus. Insights. 5 (2020) 33-46. https://doi.org/10.5038/2640-6489.5.1.1081.
- [14] GHANA STATISTICAL SERVICE, Ghana Dermographic and Helath Survey 2014, Accra, Ghana, Rockville, Maryland, USA GSS ICF. (2015) 176–177. https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/sr224/sr224.pdf.
- [15] M. SAUNDERS, P. LEWIS, T. ADRIAN, "Research Methods for Business Students"-Eighth Edition Chapter 4: Understanding research philosophy and approaches to theory development, 2019. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330760964 _Research_Methods_for_Business_Students _Chapter_4_Understanding_research_philosophy _and_approaches_to_theory_development%0A https://www.pearson.com/nl/en_NL/highereducation /subject-catalogue/business-and-m.
- [16] F. BAFFOUR-ATA, P. ANTWI-AGYEI, E. NKI-AKA, A.J. DOUGILL, A.K. ANNING, S.O. KWAKYE, Climate Information Services Available to Farming Households in Northern Region, Ghana, Weather. Clim. Soc. 14 (2022) 467–480. https://doi.org/10.1175/WCAS-D-21-0075.1.
- [17] K.L. THYBERG, D.J. TONJES, J. GURE-VITCH, Quantification of Food Waste Disposal in the United States: A Meta-Analysis, Environ. Sci. Technol. 49 (2015) 13946–13953. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03880.
- [18] E.M. RIGGS, C.N. CALLAHAN, J.A. BREY, Research on Access and Success of Under-Represented Groups in the Geosciences: Results From the Community Framework for Geoscience Education Research, (2018) 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1130/abs/2018am-323834.
- [19] V. FILIMONAU, E. TODOROVA, A. MZEMBE, L. SAUER, A. YANKHOLMES, A comparative study of food waste management in full service restaurants of the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, J. Clean. Prod. 258 (2020) 120775. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120775.
- [20] E. GREEN, Consumers' judgement of local products in 4C marketing approach, (n.d.).
- [21] H.S. CHEN, T.M. (CATHERINE) JAI, WASTE LESS, enjoy more: forming a messaging campaign and reducing food waste in restaurants,

J. Qual. Assur. Hosp. Tour. 19 (2018) 495–520. https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008X.2018.1483282.

- [22] J. CHEN, J. ZHANG, Z. YANG, Y. NIU, Z. CAI, J. WANG, L. YIN, Y. LIN, X. LU, Characterization of indigenous coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from Chinese spontaneously fermented meat products, Microbiol. Res. 263 (2022) 127160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2022.127160.
- [23] J.M. LUO, K.Y. CHAU, Y. FAN, H. CHEN, Barriers to the Implementation of Green Practices in the Integrated Resort Sector, SAGE Open. 11 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440211030277.
- ^[24] P.F. Ababio, P. LOVATT, A review on food safetv and food hygiene studies inGhana. Food Control. 47 (2015)92 - 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.06.041.
- [25] M. AAMIR, H. AHMAD, Q. JAVAID, S.M. HASAN, Waste Not, Want Not: A Case Study on Food Waste in Restaurants of Lahore, Pakistan, J. Food Prod. Mark. 24 (2018) 591–610. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454446.2018.1472695.
- [26] E.A. DE LOS MOZOS, F. BADURDEEN, P.E. DOS-SOU, Sustainable consumption by reducing food waste: A review of the current state and directions for future research, Procedia Manuf. 51 (2020) 1791–1798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2020.10.249.
- [27] F.G. SANTERAMO, D. CARLUCCI, B. DE DEVI-THS, A. SECCIA, A. STASI, R. VISCECCHIA, G. NARDONE, Emerging trends in European food, diets and food industry, Food Res. Int. 104 (2018) 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2017.10.039.
- [28] N. NICOLAOU, Y. XU, R. GOODACRE, Detection and Quantification of Bacterial Spoilage in Milk and Pork Meat Using MALDI-TOF-MS and Multivariate Analysis, Anal. Chem. 84 (2012) 5951–5958. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac300582d.
- [29] A. FENKO, L. KERSTEN, S. BIALKOVA, Overcoming consumer scepticism toward food labels: The role of multisensory experience, Food Qual. Prefer. 48 (2016) 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2015.08.013.
- [30] A. VAN BEMMEL, K. PARIZEAU, Is it food or is it waste? The materiality and relational agency of food waste across the value chain, J. Cult. Econ. 13 (2020) 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1080/17530350.2019.1684339.
- [31] R.P. ZANDONADI, L. MAISA, A. RAPOSO, V. CORTEZ, Food Waste on Foodservice: An Overview through the Perspective, Foods. 10 (2021) 1–14.
- [32] L. SAKAGUCHI, N. PAK, M. D. POTTS, Tackling the issue of food waste in restaurants: Options for measurement method, reduction and behavioral

change Authors: Leo Sakaguchi (Technische Universität Darmstadt, Germany), Nina Pak (University of California at Berkeley, USA), Matthew D. Potts (Un, (2017).

- [33] Q. MU, V.J. TAVELLA, X.M. LUO, Role of Lactobacillus reuteri in Human Health and Diseases, Front. Microbiol. 9 (2018) 757. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00757.
- ^[34] V.M. SHARMA, K.S. KRISHNAN, Recog-Importance nizing the of Consumer Bargaining: Strategic Marketing Implications, Theory Pract. 9 (2001)Mark. 24 - 37.J. https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2001.11501883.
- [35] J. WYNIMKO, Erasmus School of Economics Master Thesis: Business Analitycs & Quantitative Marketing Exploring properties of Menu-Based Conjoint Logit models with real holdout tasks. (2022).